
NOTES ON EARLY RAINIER HISTORY 
BY KATHERINE TOLLESHAUG 

As the ditty goes: 

"In 1492, Columbus crossed the ocean blue" 
or 

"1493, Columbus crossed the deep blue sea." 

As we say, Columbus dli:scovered America when his Spanish 
expedition landed in the West Indies October 12, 1492. Col'umbus 
paved the way and other nations became active also. But, as a 
matter of fact, it took 300 years to discover merely the outline and 
shape of the Americas, and the great Northwest, the Oregon coun­
try, was an unknown wilderness. It was 300 years before the moutf"l 
of the Columbia Rivcer was discovered, when in 1792 Captain Gra'y 
in the Columbia (Columbia Rediva), a Boston trading vessel, sought 
out and crossed the bar and sailed up the river which he named 
Columbia for hi'S ship. This voyage and the later overland explora­
tion of Lewis and Clark and the following tide of settlers were the 
basis of the United States claim to the Oregon Country which com­
prised Oregon, Washington, Idaho and parts of Wyoming and 
Montana . 

. From 1792 to 1973 is 181 years. What has happened to our part 
of the country from unknown wilderness to the present is truly 'a 
miracle when we consider the fact that it is just 181 years since 
white men made their enttry. 

General history covers the ground for these 181 years quite 
well, but when it comes down to getting specific data on local areas 
it seems that up until the towns were incorporated and official rec­
ords kept there wasn't much recorded and those who could tell us 
are long since gone. So gathering up the bits we weave them 
together. 

The Lewis and Clark journel mentions a stop on t.and that was to 
become Rainier, when under date of 1806 they write: "We halted 
near a river the Indians called the Coweliske; just below the river 
a high nob arises (Mt. Coffin, which is now leveled). Old timers 
say they m,ade camp on the bank where Smith Transportation is 
located, under a big cottonwood tree. 

Under "Mayger" we find this recording: 
The Winship brothers attempted to establish a trading post and 

settlement at this place, which is known as Fanny's Bottom. 
On May 26, 1810, while Astor was still maturing his plans for 

the Pacific Fur Company, Captain Nathan Winship of Boston arrjved 
on the Columbia River-with his ship Albatross. He began construc­
tion of a two story log fort and planted a garden. However, the 
attempt failed. Robert Stuart of the Asto'rians wrote in his diary 
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under date of July 1, 1812: "About two hours before sunset we 
reached the establ·ishment made by Captain Winship of Boston in 
the spring of 1810. It is situ'ated on a beautiful high bank ... Here 
he intended leaving a Mr. Washington with a party of men, but 
whether with the view of making a permanent settlement or for 
trading with the Indians until his return from the coast, the Indi'ans 
were unable to tell .... The high water inundated a house he had 
built and then a di'spute arose with the Indians, the HeNwits, by 
his taking and putting several of them in 'irons on the sU'Ppos,ition 
that they were of the Chee-hee-I·ash nation who had sometimes 
previously cut off a schooner belonging to the Russian establish­
ment at New Arl:hangel. The Governor of the place gave him au­
thority to secure any of the banditti who perpetrated this horrid 
act. The Hellwits made formidable preparations by engag'ing auxil­
iaries for the release of their rel'atives by force which came to the 
captain's knowledge and also of the error he had made. The captives 
were released and every person embarked and left the Columbia 
without ,loss of time." 

In an article written by Grace Reid, she stated that the Winship 
brothers had made stops at Rainier site and had g'iven it the name 
of "EmJnence." 

'J1he first to come into this area were the rugged trappers, who 
would bank their canoes on a high spot and head for the back 
country, making tra·ils up over the hi'll int'O Beaver Valley. 

Oregon histories recount these early days and the first settlers 
chose the Wmamette Valtey naturally, but there were those who 
saw the beautiful stand 'Of timber and the open water transit here. 
The government promise of free land was an incentive and we find 
captains and sni'Ps crews fHing on claims along the river. 

The site of St. Helens was first known as Wyeth's Rock for the 
early trader, Nathaniel Wyeth, who had bU'ilt a temp'Ora·ry post here 
in 1834. Captain H. M. Knighton took up the site a·s a donation 
tand claim in 1847 and laid out his paper town as a competitor for 
the newly established Portland, which he contemptuously called 
IlLittie Stl:Jmp Town." 

In 1849 a mate of a sailing vessel staked 'a claim on Rainier site 
and intending to return placed his claim in the hands of Peter Craw­
ford, who had staked his claim where Kelso, Wash., is now. The 
mate failed to .... eturn to make the government requi rements and 
Mr. Crawferd turned his claim over to his friend and working' com­
panion, Charles E. Fox. Mr. Fox met gevernment requ.irements and 
Mr. Crawford surveyed it in 1850 and 1851, and another paper 
town wa's born. Mr. Fox named his town Rainier fer ~he mountain 
in Washington which could be seen se clearly from the high country. 

So Rainier History 'refers te Mr. Fox as the founder 'Of Rainier and 
collecting a bit there and a bit here we gather these facts about 
ou,r feunder: 
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1914 -A PORTION OF OLD RAINIER -This pjcture was taken in 1914, showing the remains of Dean Blanch­
ard's early enterprises in east Rainier: Blanchard mill; his home across street from mill (hidden); his country 
store; his city dock and warehouses; his big warehouse to the left; the two houses to the left were built 
when the railroad came through in 1897 and later moved up from Front street; house in right hand lower 
corner that of the Merrit Pomeroy family. The boat is the Oleum of Newark. 



Charles E. Fox came over the plains in the summer of 1849 with 
the government teams as a te'amster. He made hi's way down river 
and stopped at Rainier site. He got out square timber with Peter 
Crawford and helped him in his, survey work. In 1850 he acquired 
the land claim the mate had left in charge of Mr. Crawford and they 
su'rveyed and mapped it in 1850 and 1851 and another paper town 
was born. Mr. Fox built a crib wharf at the west end of the town 
in line with the trail over the hiH into the Hudson district. This was 
called Fox Landing and later changed to Cedar Landing, because 
of the cedar that was I'ater brought here for shipping out. 

We find a recording that a Mr. Fowler built a house here in 1851 
to accommodate travelers who came by open boat and cano'es from 
the Cowlitz and up and down river. This later became the home 
of the John Dibblee family and who enlarged it. Facing the highway, 
it is now an antique shop. A man named James Dobbins settled on 
farming land in what is now West R'ainier, afso built to accommo­
date travelers. In the summer and fa" of 1852 a Mr. Frank Warren 
beg'an building a sawmill and also kept a sma" stock of goods. 
Thu's started Rainier and vicinity. 

Mr. Fox built wharves and hou'ses and we find record of a gUt 
of two lots to the Methodist church, just east of the old Oibblee 
house about where a big old pear tree stands. He bU'ilt a sma" log 
house with puncheon floor and skin windows to be used for school 
and town purposes. 

According to the notes Grace Reid left, Mr. Fox was a man of 
many ideas but did not follow any through, saying he built a grist 
milt before he thought of the fact that there was no grain for miles 
around to run it. Aside from . the fact that the donation land claim 
bears his name, along with the creek, there isn't anything recorded 
to tell what became of him and he does not appear on the town 
records. 

By 1855 there was an Indian scare and Rainier built a fort for 
protection and Pete Crawford sent his wife and infant son over to 
Rainier but he himself slept peacefully in his Cowlitz cabin with 
open door. 

In 1858 we fi.nd another Crawford recording: "General Clark from 
California and stationed at The Dalles, plans his entire force to stem 
Indian t'rouble" and ag'ain quoting: IiSome of the denisons of Rainier 
C?re pul'ling down substantial buildings and removing materia'i to 
The Dalles, which was building up fast." 

Sometime after 1860, Joseph Silva came to town and he acquired 
some of Mr. Fox's property along the waterfront about where the 
Rainier Review is housed. Dean Bl'anchard came to Rainier in 1863 
and bought a small sawmili on the waterfront on East A Street. He 
was a bachelor and a man of vision and Ra,inier became his home 
town and he worked for its interests the rest of his life. He pur­
chased what was left of the Minear Land Claim in east Rainier and 
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Mr. Minear and his follewers pulled up stakes and left fer The Dall'es 
alsO'. Mr. Blanchard ran a sawmill, country stere, city decks and ware­
houses, beats, pile Jriver, held city and ceunty effices and was 
general adviser to' the cemmunity. 

On Nevember 25th, 1885, by an act ef the legislature ef the 
State ef Oregen, the tewn of Rainier was incorperated, and the 
Tewn Fathers teek ever the gevernment. 

The first meetings were held in Mr. Blanchard's home and the 
f.irst elections in the Blanchard and Muckle Store. 

Rainier was the first town in Celumbia Ceunty to' be incerperated. 
Rainier, Nevember 25, 1885. 
St. Helens, February 25, 1889, and cembined with the town O'f 

Heulten Nevember 15, 1913. 
Clatskanie, 1891 ~ 
Scappeese, July 13, 1921. 

WILLIAM W. WEST FAMILY 

OF SCAPPOOSE 

One ef the early families ef the Scappoose area· was the William 
W. West family, whese histery we are glad to' recerd, for they 
and their descendants have been influential in develeping that area. 
We are indebted to' twO' granddraughters, Mrs. Leila Bushman and 
Mrs. Rheda McKay, fer this infermatien. Leila is the daughter O'f 
Harry West, and Rheda is a daughtetr O'f Burt West, beth having 
teld ef the'ir fathers and families. 

The father of William W. was Themas West, whO' was bern in 
England in 1741 and died at Gastle Creek, New Yerk, in April, 
1828. He feught with American treeps against Eng'land during 
the Revelutienary War. William W. was bern ;n Broome Ceunty, 
New Yerk, en Feb. 4, 1829. 

William married Maria (Bailey) Gere Aug. 26, 1852, in Portage 
Ceunty, Wiscensin. She had married Edward Gere Sept. 26, 1847, 
and they had two children befere she became a widO'w. Three 
children were bern to' M·r. and Mrs. William West 'in Wiscensjn: 
Jared P., Ellen and Harry. In 1861 William, Maria and their children 
and Maria's sen, Ed Gore, crossed the pl'ains in covered wagO'ns. 
They had gene to' Omaha, Nebraska, in 1860, to' be ready to' jein 
the wagon train fer Oregen in the early spring ef 1861. This wagon 
train came by the Applegate trai'l threugh Southern Oregen. 

On arriving in Oregen the family chese the Scappoose country 
for their heme. He beught 300 acres ef land near Scappoose, which 
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